# 2010-CA-01733-T

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Thomas J. Gardner, III, Appellant
- 2. The City of Tupelo, Mississippi, Appellee
- Ed Neelly, Dick Hill, Nettie Davis, Smith Heavner, Doyce Deas, Carolyn Mauldin, Bill
  Martin, Mike Bryan, Thomas Bonds, and Berdell Jones as members of the City Council of
  the City of Tupelo, Mississippi, Appellees.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether a change in zoning from one classification to a Planned Unit Development (PUD) constitutes a "rezoning" under Mississippi law such that the stringent criteria for rezoning must be proven by clear and convincing evidence.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in affirming the rezoning, since there was insufficient evidence that the character of the neighborhood had substantially changed or that a public need existed for the rezoning.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a Circuit Court's review of a rezoning decision by the City of Tupelo, Mississippi.

Wilson Coleman submitted an Application for Rezoning requesting the rezoning of approximately forty-five (45) acres of property within Tupelo, Mississippi. (R. p. 7). On April 15, 2008, the Tupelo City Council voted to approve the rezoning as requested by Coleman. (R. p. 106-07). The City adopted an Ordinance Rezoning Property and Amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi. (*Id.*).

Thomas J. Gardner, III filed a Bill of Exceptions in the Circuit Court of Lee County, Mississippi pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated section 11-51-75. (R. p. 2). The Circuit Court heard argument and entered an Order affirming the City's decision. (R. p. 242-43). Gardner timely perfected this appeal. (R. p. 244).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Wilson Coleman ("Coleman") owns approximately forty-five (45) acres of property in Tupelo, Mississippi. (R. p. 2). Coleman's property was zoned "R-1L" (large-lot residential) in the City of Tupelo's Comprehensive Plan. (*Id.*; see also R. p. 11). On January 4, 2007, Coleman submitted an Application for Rezoning requesting that the subject property be rezoned from R-1L to a Planned Unit Development ("PUD"). (R. p. 7, 11). The proposed PUD would allow a dense 201 residential unit development to be constructed in the large-lot rural area of Tupelo. (*Id.*).

Thomas J. Gardner, III ("Gardner") owns property adjacent to Coleman's property. (R. p. 3). Gardner's property would be greatly affected by the rezoning of Coleman's property, and Gardner has opposed the rezoning. (*Id.*).

Pursuant to the City's ordinances, the steps in the disposition of an application for rezoning are as follows: 1) an application for rezoning is submitted to the Planning and Development Department; 2) the Planning and Development Department staff reviews the request and issues a report; 3) a public hearing is held before the City's Planning Committee; 4) the Planning Committee issues a recommendation on the request; 5) a public hearing is held before City Council; 6) the City Council issues a decision on the application. (R. p. 200).

Neither the Planning and Development Department or the Planning Committee has authority to approve or disapprove of a rezoning request. (R. p. 199; R. p. 200). The Planning Committee merely serves in an advisory capacity to the City Council. (*See id.*) The authority to act on an application for rezoning rests with the City Council. (R. p. 199; R. p. 200).

Following Coleman's Application for Rezoning, the Planning Department issued a "Staff Analysis" regarding the application. (R. p. 11). The Staff Analysis addressed certain criteria

specified in section 7.1.6(1) of the Tupelo Development Code. (*Id.*). Notably, two separate Staff Analyses made the following finding:

# "Otherwise, that changes in the area warrant the requested zone - <u>not</u> <u>applicable."</u>

(R. p. 9, 11) (emphasis added). Thus, the Staff Analysis did not address whether the character of the subject area had changed sufficiently to justify a rezoning from R-1L to a PUD. In fact, the Staff Analysis candidly noted that the area is "rural in character with hayfields, pastures and large house lots" and would change to a "more suburban environment" as a result of the rezoning. (R. p. 12).

The Staff Analysis likewise gave short shrift to whether there was a public need for the rezoning. The Staff Analysis simply stated:

#### Need for additional land in Tupelo to be zoned PUD-

From the perspective of the city's needs for residential development, this rezoning has the positive effect of increasing the number of units that the remaining residential acreage can support.

(Id.). The Staff Analysis did not contain any data, statistics or other evidence regarding the public need for PUD zoned property in the City. (See id.).

Notwithstanding the absence of any real evidence, the Staff Analysis recommended that the rezoning application be approved. (R. p. 13). Following the Staff report, a public hearing was held before the Planning Committee. (R. p. 3). Gardner appeared before the Planning Committee and opposed the rezoning. (*Id.*). However, the Planning Committee accepted the Staff Analysis and likewise recommended approval of the rezoning by the City Council. (*Id.*).

A hearing was held before the City Council on the rezoning request on April 15, 2008. (Id.). The City Council voted to approve the rezoning of the forty-five (45) acres from R-1L to a

PUD. (Id.) The City adopted an Ordinance Rezoning Property and Amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi. (R. p. 106).

As fully discussed below, the City's decision to rezone the property from R-1L to a PUD was a "rezoning" such that there must be clear and convincing evidence of a substantial change in the character of the area and a public need for the rezoning. There is wholly insufficient evidence in the Record to justify rezoning the subject property under Mississippi law. Accordingly, the Circuit Court's decision should be reversed and judgment rendered setting aside the rezoning.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In rezoning cases the Circuit Court sits as the first-level appellate Court. See Thomas v. Bd. of Supervisors, 45 So. 3d 1173, 1180 (Miss. 2010). The Circuit Court does not try facts but reviews the decision by the governing authority. Thomas, 45 So. 3d at 1180. This Court applies the same standard of review as that applied by the Circuit Court. Id.

The Supreme Court has often noted that in zoning cases the decision of a municipality will "not be set aside unless it is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or is illegal, or without a substantial evidentiary basis." *Faircloth v. Lyles*, 592 So. 2d 941, 943 (Miss. 1991). That is, a rezoning decision is affirmed so long as it is at least "fairly debatable" whether the required criteria have been sufficiently proven. *Childs v. Hancock County Bd. of Supervisors*, 1 So. 3d 855, 859 (Miss. 2009).

However, in order to be affirmed, the municipality must have had *actual proof* of either a mistake in the original zoning or a significant change in the character of the neighborhood since the original zoning and a public need. *Cockrell v. Panola County Bd. of Supervisors*, 950 So. 2d 1086, 1091 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). In instances of insufficient evidence, where it is not debatable and the criteria for a rezoning were not sufficiently proven before the municipality, this Court will not hesitate to reverse. *Cockrell*, 950 So. 2d at 1091. The Court in *Cockrell* noted that "it is clearly within our judicial discretion to reverse a rezoning ordinance which was adopted based on insufficient proof." *Id.* at 1092.

Thus, even deferring to the municipality's decision, this Court must nevertheless reverse if there is insufficient evidence to meet the stringent standard for rezoning. *Id. See also, Board of Aldermen v. Conerly*, 509 So. 2d 877, 884 (Miss. 1987) (noting that "while this Court accords profound deference to actions of governing boards pertaining to their local affairs, we have

nevertheless carefully delineated rules for them to follow before amending their duly adopted and established zoning ordinances.").

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The City of Tupelo rezoned property in this case from an R-1L zoning to a PUD zoning designation. Because this is a "rezoning" decision the stringent analysis for rezoning applies to this case. The Record is replete with evidence that the City's decision in this case was a rezoning, notably including a City Ordinance which expressly rezones the subject property. Further, this Court's precedent makes clear that any rezoning, including a change in designation to a PUD, constitutes a "rezoning" under Mississippi law such that the analysis for a rezoning applies.

Since the City's actions did rezone the property for a use different than that approved in its Comprehensive Plan, the stringent test for rezoning decisions applies in this case. Under Mississippi law property can be rezoned by a City only where it is established, by clear and convincing evidence, that 1) there was a mistake in the original zoning; or 2) the character of the area changed to an extent justifying rezoning and there exists a public need for the rezoning. Clear and convincing evidence must be found in the Record before this Court in order for the rezoning to avoid reversal.

In this case, the Record is devoid of such evidence. There was no evidence whatsoever, much less clear and convincing evidence, of either of the criteria for rezoning. The City does not claim an error in the original zoning and there is no evidence of such an error. There was no evidence regarding a change in the character of the area or a public need for the rezoning submitted to the City or before the Circuit Court. No surveys, statistics, data compilations or other evidence is to be found in the Record establishing these criteria. The evidence in the

Record irrefutably shows that, as of the date of the rezoning, the character of the area remained rural, consisting of large house lots, hayfields and pastures. At best, the Record reveals that the City speculated that the character of the area might be substantially changed in the future by potential industrial development outside the City and the subject rezoning itself. The Circuit Court accepted the argument that the proposed residential development, which would transform the area into a dense suburban environment, could itself be the substantial change necessary to justify the rezoning.

There is no evidence that the character of the area had changed as of the rezoning decision. Mississippi law required actual evidence that a substantial change in the character of the area had occurred before the rezoning. There is no such evidence in the Record. On this basis alone, the Circuit Court's decision should be reversed and rendered.

Similarly, there was no actual evidence of a present public need for the rezoning. At most, there was a theory that due to future industrial growth Tupelo might have an increased need for dense housing at some unspecified time in the future. However, no actual evidence showed the extent of the demand for housing in Tupelo or any present or even future need for more dense housing developments. On this basis as well, the Record contains insufficient evidence such that the rezoning decision should be reversed.

Since the criteria for rezoning were not proven by clear and convincing evidence, the Circuit Court's decision to affirm the rezoning must be reversed and judgment rendered in Gardner's favor.

#### ARGUMENT I.

# THE CITY'S ACTION CONSTITUTES A "REZONING" OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

The City claimed below that its action of approving the Planned Unit Development ("PUD") did not constitute a "rezoning." Accordingly, the City argued, there was no requirement for evidence of a change in the area's character and public need for the action. The City's argument is refuted by overwhelming evidence in the Record and is contrary to Mississippi law.

First, the Record manifestly exhibits that the property was in-fact rezoned. The subject tract of land was initially zoned R-1L. (R. p. 7). Wilson sought to have the zoning designation changed to "PUD." (Id). This, unquestionably, amounts to a rezoning. Wilson Coleman submitted a "Request for Rezoning." (Id). The Request provided that the property was "Currently zoned R1L" and requested that the property "be rezoned to PUD." (Id.) (emphasis added).

Further, both of the City's Staff Analyses treat the proposed action as a rezoning. (R. p. 9, 11). The Staff Analyses evaluate the factors listed in Tupelo Development Code 7.1.6(1) – the chapter of the Development Code which pertains to rezoning. (R. p. 201). Each of the notices of public hearing expressly state that the City was considering a "rezoning" of the subject property. (R. p. 14-19). At all times during hearings before the City, the City noted it was evaluating "rezoning" the property. (See, e.g., p. 163) (City Council member presenting for consideration the "rezoning of 46 acres").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court did not specifically address this issue, finding instead that the City had before it evidence making the "change and need" test fairly debatable. (R. p. 241). However, the Circuit Court concluded that the "specific considerations inherent in the PUD application . . . all contributed to the Council's findings of the change in the area, and need for the PUD for which the application was sought." (*Id.*). Gardner maintains that the fact that the rezoning involved a PUD does not change the analysis or make it less exacting in any respect.

Most notably, the City did in-fact rezone the property by adopting the "Ordinance Rezoning Property and Amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of Tupelo, Mississippi." (R. p. 106). The Ordinance expressly provides that it *rezones* the subject property. (*Id.*).

The Record before the Court establishes that the City's action in this case, changing the zoning designation of the property from R-1L to PUD, was a rezoning.

However, not only does the Record make clear that the City rezoned the property, Mississippi law also establishes that changing a property's designation to a PUD constitutes a rezoning. The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly analyzed a change of property's designation to a PUD as a rezoning and has applied the legal test for rezoning. In Fondren N. Renaissance v. Mayor of Jackson, 749 So. 2d 974, 976 (Miss. 1999) the Supreme Court was faced with a challenge to property which had been rezoned to a PUD. The Fondren Court stated that the "City Planning Board conducted a public hearing on Columbia's application to rezone the school property, which had previously been a Special Use, R-1A and C-2, to a PUD." Fondren, 749 So. 2d at 976. The Court in Fondren consistently referred to "the City Council's decision to rezone the property." Id. at 977 (emphasis added). The Court, analyzing the change to a PUD as a rezoning (as it obviously is), applied the "change and need" test. Id.

Similarly, the Supreme Court treated a change to a PUD designation as a rezoning in *Old Canton Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Mayor of Jackson*, 749 So. 2d 54, 62 (Miss. 1999). Similar to *Fondren*, the Jackson City Council approved a PUD in *Old Canton Hills*. *Old Canton Hills*, 749 So. 2d at 56. The Court in *Old Canton Hills* began its analysis by defining a PUD. The Court stated:

A planned unit development is a district in which a planned mix of residential, commercial, and even industrial uses is sanctioned subject to restrictions calculated to achieve compatible and efficient use of the land . . .;

One of the purposes of a Planned Unit Development is to ensure that, once an area is zoned for a particular classification, the property is actually used in the manner previously agreed upon by the City and prospective developers. It should be readily apparent that the sort of contingencies agreed to by the Pear Orchard developers in the present case are fully consistent with the goals and purposes of the PUD land planning device.

Id. at 59. (citing 83 AM.JUR.2D Zoning and Planning § 497 at 394 (1992)). Tellingly, the Supreme Court then applied the stringent "change and need" test applicable to rezonings. The Court stated:

Having addressed Old Canton's previous points of error, this Court must now determine whether the rezoning was proper under the standard of review applicable to rezoning decisions. While this Court generally employs the familiar "arbitrary and capricious" standard in reviewing zoning decisions, we have established a rather stringent burden of proof for the petitioner in a rezoning case. In the case of rezoning, the petitioner for rezoning must prove by clear and convincing evidence that:

- (1) There was a mistake in the original zoning, or
- (2) The character of the neighborhood has changed to such an extent as to justify reclassification, and that there was a public need for rezoning.

This Court presumes that the original zoning was well planned, and the record must contain findings that the aforementioned two requirements have been met. Further, these findings must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Id. at 62. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also A&F Props., LLC v. Madison County Bd. of Supervisors, 933 So. 2d 296, 297 (Miss. 2006) (summarizing that "the Madison County Board of Supervisors ("Board") adopted the petition of Lake Caroline, Inc. ("LCI") to have 3,047 acres of property rezoned from A-1 Agricultural Classification to P-1 Planned Unit Development District Classification.") (emphasis added).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has consistently treated a change of designation from one zoning to a PUD as a rezoning and has applied the change-need analysis.

Of course, there is sound policy which requires treating a change in designation to a PUD as a rezoning, just as the Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly done. To do otherwise

would leave an enormous loophole through which municipalities could leap. Local governments desiring to rezone property, but lacking sufficient proof to meet the stringent rezoning burden, would simply create various PUDs to suit their needs. Such a result is untenable. Accordingly, under Mississippi law, any change in zoning, including a change to a PUD, must be evaluated under the stringent standard set for rezoning decisions.

This Court should apply the "change and need" analysis to the rezoning in this case. As discussed below, there is no evidence whatsoever in the Record sufficient to support the rezoning under this stringent standard and the Circuit Court's decision should be reversed and rendered.

#### ARGUMENT II.

THE CITY'S DECISION WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF A CHANGE IN THE CHARACTER OF THE AREA AND PUBLIC NEED.

Mississippi law provides that there are only two instances when property may be permissibly rezoned: 1) when there was a mistake in the original zoning of the property; or 2) when the character of the neighborhood has changed to such an extent as to justify reclassification and there is a public need for the rezoning. *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.*, 759 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 2000). Importantly, these criteria must be proven by **clear and convincing evidence**. *Town of Florence*, 759 So. 2d at 1224. Further, the record of the rezoning decision must contain findings that the requirements for rezoning have been met. *Briarwood, Inc. v. City of Clarksdale*, 766 So. 2d 73, 80 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

The Supreme Court in *Town of Florence* noted that Mississippi Courts "presume that comprehensive zoning ordinances adopted by municipal authorities are well planned and designed to be permanent." *Id.* at 1224. Accordingly, a rezoning decision is reviewed much less

deferentially than an original zoning decision. *Id.* at 1224 n.1. The Supreme Court in <u>Board of</u>

Aldermen v. Conerly explained the policy behind this reasoning as follows:

Purchasers of small tracts of land invest a substantial portion of their entire lifetime earnings, relying upon a zoning ordinance. Without the assurance of the zoning ordinance, such investments would not be made. On this small area they build their homes, where they expect to spend the most peaceful, restful and enjoyable hours of the day.

Zoning ordinances curb the exodus of city workers to a lot in the distant countryside. Indeed, the protection of zoning ordinances in municipalities, as opposed to no zoning in most county areas, encourage the choice of a city lot rather than a country lot for a home in the first instance. Zoning ordinances make city property more attractive to the prudent investor.

In the absence of agreement between all interested parties, an amendment to a zoning ordinance is not meant to be easy. Otherwise, it would be a meaningless scrap of paper.

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