010-CA-01733E

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest

in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Thomas J. Gardner, III, Appellant

R. Shane McLaughlin, Esq Attorney for Appellant

B. Bronson Tabler, Esq. Attorney for Appellee Wilson Coleman

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Fundamentally, Gardner disagrees with the determination of both the City of Tupelo, and with the Circuit Court on review, that voluminous evidence provided more-than-adequate support for the City's decision to grant the PUD application. Gardner essentially asks this Court to reevaluate the evidence as if it were the municipal governing board, arguing that the "clear and convincing evidence" standard was not met, when his brief reveals only that he disagrees with the conclusions reached by the City of Tupelo and Circuit Court as to the import and relevance of the evidence that the City of Tupelo did, indisputably, consider. That evidence, substantial in its scope and relevance, fully established the need for the designation of the subject PUD.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has emphasized that appellate courts are not to assume the role of weighing the evidence, and has reiterated that in the absence of arbitrary and capricious decision-making, the municipal decision should stand. Here, the Circuit Court properly determined that the City of Tupelo had evidence of the current use of the property and need for additional housing, the ongoing changes in the area, and the high percentage of low-density zoned property in the area where a need for greater density existed, all of which, in combination with the extensive, record testimony before the City Council, justified the rezoning decision. At the very least, the decision was fairly debatable and should not be disturbed by this Court on appeal.

Further, while the Circuit Court correctly found sufficient evidence of change and need to justify the grant of the PUD application under the traditional test, the City's approval of the PUD did not, in fact, constitute rezoning of property as the term has traditionally been understood. The Mississippi Supreme Court previously has applied zoning standards to PUD cases, but has never been called upon to consider directly whether a Planned Unit Development should entail the same legal requirements as a zoning change. The City's consideration and approval of the PUD application in accordance with its zoning ordinances was not arbitrary and capricious, and the Court should afford due deference to the City's valid legislative enactments. The City of Tupelo emphasizes, however, that resolution of this issue is not necessary in order for the decision of the Circuit Court to be affirmed.

## I. Standard of review

The Mississippi Supreme Court very recently restated, and discussed at some length, the standard of review in zoning cases in *Thomas v. Board of Sup'rs of Panola County*, 45 So. 3d 1173,

1180-81 (Miss. 2010). A lengthy citation to this case is instructive:

Issues of zoning are not judicial, but rather, legislative in nature. Luter v. Hammon, 529 So. 2d 625, 628 (Miss. 1988). "Upon reviewing zoning cases the cause is not tried de novo but the circuit court acts as an appellate court only." Broadacres, Inc. v. City of Hattiesburg, 489 So. 2d 501, 503 (Miss. 1986). See also Perez v. Garden Isle Cmty. Assoc., 882 So. 2d 217, 219 (Miss. 2004) ("This Court has also held that the circuit court acts as an appellate court in reviewing zoning cases and not as the trier of fact."); City of Jackson v. Sheppard Inv. Co., 185 So. 2d 675,676 (Miss. 1966) ("the cause is not tried de novo in the circuit court" and the circuit court "was not the trier of facts and, in accordance with the statute, acted as an appellate court only").

In *Mississippi Department of Corrections v. Harris*, 831 So. 2d 1190, 1192 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002), the Court of Appeals, in an Employee Appeals Board case, set forth the appropriate standard of review by the appellate court when an agency's decision has been reviewed by the circuit court:

The circuit court as the first-level appeals court affirmed the decision of the Employee Appeals Board. Even so, this Court again looks at the same record that was made at the agency whose decision is the subject of this appeal, and applies the same review

standard to it regardless of whether the circuit court affirmed or reversed that decision.

Harris, 831 So. 2d at 1192. See also Bynum v. Miss. Dep't ofEduc., 906 So. 2d 81, 91 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing Harris, 831 So. 2d at 1192) (In an Employment Appeals Board case, the Court of Appeals stated that "[r]egardless of the conclusion of the circuit court, our review focuses on the agency decision"). In Childs v. Hancock County Board of Supervisors, 1 So. 3d 855,861 (Miss. 2009), this Court stated:

If the Board's decision is founded upon substantial evidence, then it is binding upon an appellate court, *i.e.*, the Circuit Court, the Court of Appeals and this Court. This is the same standard of review which applies in appeals from decisions of other administrative agencies and boards.

Childs, 1 So. 3d at 861 (quoting Perez, 882 So. 2d at 220).

In matters involving zoning decisions by boards of supervisors, the order of the governing body will "not be set aside unless it is clearly shown to be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or is illegal, or without a substantial evidentiary basis." *Faircloth v. Lyles*, 592 So. 2d 941, 943 (Miss. 1991). In *Gentry v. City of Baldwyn*, our appellate courts defined the term "arbitrary" as an act that "is not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Gentry v. City of Baldwyn*, 821 So. 2d 870, 873 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Burks v. Amite County Sch. Dist.*, 708 So. 2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1998)).

On the other hand, the term "capricious' is defined as any act done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.* This Court has defined substantial evidence to mean "more than a mere scintilla of evidence" or "something less than a preponderance of the evidence but more than a scintilla or glimmer." *Miss. Dep't of Envtl Quality v. Weems*, 653 So. 2d 266, 280-81 (Miss. 1995) (quoting 2 Am. Jur. 2d Administrative Law § 537 Substantial Evidence Standard (1994)).

The burden of proof on issues of enacting or amending ordinances or rezoning rests on the party asserting the invalidity of the board's actions, while the board's actions have a presumption of validity. *Childs*, 1 So. 3d at 859. An appellate court cannot substitute its judgment for actions taken by the board. *Id.* The action of the zoning authority must not be disturbed where the issue is "fairly debatable." *Id.* "Where ... there is substantial evidence supporting both sides of a rezoning application, it is hard to see how the ultimate decision could be anything but 'fairly debatable,' not 'arbitrary and capricious,' and therefore beyond our authority to overturn." *Edwards* v. *Harrison County Bd. of Supervisors*, 22 So. 3d 268, 274, Miss. 2009) (quoting *Saunders v. City of Jackson*, 511 So. 2d 902, 907 (Miss. 1987)). However, "[e]very zoning case must be decided on the basis of all the circumstances of the particular case." *Id.* (quoting *Howie v. Autrey*, 209 So. 2d 904,905 (Miss. 1968)).

Even before *Thomas*, the Supreme Court emphasized that there is a presumption of validity in municipal zoning decisions and the challenging party bears the burden to demonstrate their invalidity. *Perez v. Garden Isle Community Ass'n*, 882 So. 2d 217, 219 (Miss. 2004). The Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the City, as "the judicial department of the government of this state has no authority to interdict either zoning or rezoning decisions which may be said '*fairly debatable*'''. *Luter v. Hammon*, 529 So. 2d 625, 628 (Miss. 1988) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, municipalities' zoning decisions are presumed to have been made on the basis of requisite factual findings, even when the record does not contain a specific recitation of such findings. *See Beasley v. Neelly*, 911 So. 2d 603, 608-09 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). In other words, as long as the reviewing court can find from the record sufficient information upon which the City could have relied in reaching the necessary factual conclusions, the City's decision may not be disturbed. Under this standard, the decision by the Circuit Court in this case should be affirmed.

# II. Assuming the designation of a PUD constitutes a change in zoning, the record supported findings of change in character and public need for reclassification

i

ſ

The standard for rezoning in Mississippi has been clearly set out: "[T]o reclassify property, an applicant must show by clear and convincing evidence that (1) a mistake in the original zoning occurred; or (2) a change in the character of the neighborhood occurred that justified rezoning, and a public need existed for the rezoning." *Thomas* at 11 (citing *Edwards*, 22 So. 3d at 274). *See also Childs*, 1 So. 3d at 859-60; *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands*, *Ltd.*, 759 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Miss. 2000); *Old Canton Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Mayor and City Council of City of Jackson*, 749 So. 2d 54, 62 (Miss. 1999).) Gardner argues that the Circuit Court erroneously affirmed the City's grant of the PUD application (which Gardner contends is a rezoning), because no substantial evidence supported the Board's actions. Mistake is not at issue in this case. The Court's analysis, therefore, focuses on the two part "change and need" test. Under this test the Circuit Court correctly concluded that the City had provided far more substantial evidence than that which has warranted affirmance under analogous, recent Mississippi Supreme Court case law.

Gardner asks the Court to re-weigh the evidence presented at the City Council hearing and to reach a different conclusion than did the City. As the Supreme Court has repeatedly held and recently affirmed, the appellate courts of this State lack the authority to take such actions:

The appellate courts are not "super-zoning commission[s]" and should not consider themselves to be zoning boards for governing bodies. *McWaters v. City of Biloxi*, 591 So. 2d 824,828 (Miss. 1991). "Whatever may be the personal opinion of the judges of an appeal court on zoning, the court cannot substitute its own judgment as to the wisdom or soundness of the municipality's action." *Barnes v. Bd. of Supervisors, DeSoto County*, 553 So. 2d 508, 510 (Miss. 1989). A board may draw from its own common knowledge and its own familiarity with the area when making zoning decisions. *Faircloth*, 592 So. 2d at 943; *Childs*, 1 So. 3d at 860. This Court cannot overturn a zoning decision when substantial evidence supports both sides of <u>a</u> rezoning application, because it would be difficult to determine that the decision was not fairly debatable. *Edwards*, 22 So. 3d at 274.

*Thomas*, 45 So. 3d at 1181. With these principles in mind, the City turns to the evidence considered and found to be sufficient by both the City and Circuit Court.

# 1. Change in the character of the neighborhood

i.

Gardner asserts that the City failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the character of the neighborhood had changed to an extent to justify rezoning. Gardner places great emphasis on two short statements found in the staff analysis of the PUD application, that indicated, consistent with Tupelo's policies for consideration of a PUD application, that proof of change was not a required element of the application. From this premise Gardner concludes that "The Staff Analyses' admission that changes in the area were not considered, . . . makes it indisputable that there was no clear and convincing evidence to meet this criteria." This Court, however, has expressed a fuller understanding of the difficult role a non-lawyer, municipal governing board faces when it considers land-use (and particularly rezoning) issues. Again, *Thomas* is instructive:

Rezoning hearings are informal in nature. Woodland Hills Conservation Ass'n, Inc.v. City of Jackson, 443 So. 2d 1173, 1180 (Miss. 1983). To determine the factual issues in rezoning requests, a board may consider information provided at the rezoning hearing, its own common knowledge, and its own familiarity with the area. Faircloth, 592 So. 2d at 943; see also Childs, 1 So. 3d at 860. The rules of evidence are misplaced in rezoning matters. Woodland Hills, 443 So. 2d at 1180. The board also may consider any hearsay evidence that is admitted when it makes its decision. Id. at 943-44. "It is both proper and desirable that rezoning decision makers consider information they have acquired outside the hearing room." Id. In Board of Aldermen of Town of Bay Springs v. Jenkins, 423 So. 2d 1323 (Miss. 1982), this Court stated that "[t]he hearing should be an informal, non-adversary proceeding in which the rules of evidence are not applicable" and reaffirmed that the mayor and board of aldermen were permitted to consider both sworn and unsworn statements at the hearing and their common knowledge and familiarity with the area. Id. (quoting R. Khayat and D. Reynolds, Zoning Law in Mississippi, 45 MISS. L.J. 365, 372-73 (1974)). Notwithstanding that informality is acceptable in rezoning proceedings, the governing body still must "find the necessary criteria for rezoning by clear and convincing evidence[,]" and that the evidence is contained in the record. Bd. of Aldermen, City of Clinton v. Conerly, 509 So. 2d at 885.

This Court has provided some guidance to determine what constitutes substantial evidence. In *Board of Aldermen, City of Clinton,* this Court held that a governing board needs a minimum of evidence, such as a map, changes in the area, statistics demonstrating a public need, and other evidence to make an informed judgment. *Bd.* 

of Aldermen, City of Clinton, 509 So. 2d at 886. Subsequently, in Sea Lands, this Court stated that "it is impossible to articulate or design a particular test for determining what is sufficient evidence to show a material change and a public need to support rezoning." Sea Lands, 759 So. 2d at 1227-28. As stated in Sea Lands, while there is no test to determine what constitutes sufficient evidence to prove a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood and public need, without comparable evidence, such as maps showing a change or recent rezoning in the area, statistics or other evidence of growth in the neighborhood, and charts showing the quantity of construction, the record lacks comparable evidence to show a material change in the neighborhood or a public need. Id.; Bd. of Aldermen, City of Clinton,

509 So. 2d at 886.

However, this Court also recognizes that zoning is not stagnant. "Because

communities grow and changes occur, municipal officials possess the power to rezone." *Woodland Hills*, 443 So. 2d at 1180. A good comprehensive plan "contemplates a dynamic community" and recognizes change that balances growth with individual property interests. *Id.* at 1179. The Court has held:

[A]ll presumptions must be indulged in favor of the validity of zoning ordinances. It is presumed to be reasonable and for the public good. It is presumed that the legislative body investigated it and found conditions such that the action which it took was appropriate. The one assailing the validity has the burden of proof to establish that the ordinance is invalid or arbitrary or unreasonable as to his property, and this must be by clear and convincing evidence.

*Edwards v. Harrison County Bd. of Supervisors,* 22 So. 3d 268, 279 (Miss. 2009) (quoting *Childs,* 1 So. 3d at 861). "Again Rhyne also points out: 'Zoning is not static, and zoning restrictions are subject to change. Thus, a municipality may amend its zoning ordinance whenever it deems conditions warrant such change." *Edwards,* 22 So. 3d at 275 (citing *City of Jackson v. Bridges,* 243 Miss. 646, 654,139 So. 2d 660, 663 (1962)). Mississippi Code Section 11-1-17(1)(a) states, in part:

The governing authority of each municipality and county may provide for the preparation, adoption, amendment, extension and carrying out of a comprehensive plan for the purpose of bringing about coordinated physical development in accordance with present and future needs.... Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-17 (1){a) (Rev. 2002).

Thomas, 45 So. 3d at 1182-83.

Despite Gardner's contrary argument, the City's consideration went much further than a short entry on a staff analysis report. The City was provided and considered substantial evidence to support the change in character of the neighborhood in which the subject property was located. Among other facts considered by the City were the effect of the development and execution of the Toyota Wellspring Project north of the property<sup>2</sup>; construction of Tupelo Christian Preparatory School;<sup>3</sup> through access from Pontotoc County to the City via Belden-Endville Road; and specific changes in the area around the property from a rural character to a more suburban character.<sup>4</sup> All these factors

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